

Review

Review: Environmental mycobacteria as a cause of human infection



Samuel Halstrom ^{*a*,c}, Patricia Price ^{*b*}, Rachel Thomson ^{*a*,c,*}

^a School of Medicine, University of Queensland, Room 513, Level 5, Mayne Medical Building, Herston Campus, Herston, Brisbane, QLD 4006, Australia

^b School of Biomedical Science, Curtin University of Technology, GPO Box U1987, Perth, WA 6845, Australia

^c Gallipoli Medical Research Foundation, Greenslopes Private Hospital, Newdegate Street, Greenslopes, Brisbane, QLD 4120, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 February 2015 Accepted 12 March 2015 Available online 2 April 2015

Keywords: Nontuberculous mycobacteria Water Soil Dust Environment Epidemiology

ABSTRACT

Pulmonary infections with nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) are recognized as a problem in immunodeficient individuals and are increasingly common in older people with no known immune defects. NTM are found in soil and water, but factors influencing transmission from the environment to humans are mostly unknown. Studies of the epidemiology of NTM disease have matched some clinical isolates of NTM with isolates from the patient's local environment. Definitive matching requires strain level differentiation based on molecular analyses, including partial sequencing, PCR-restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) PCR, repetitive element (rep-) PCR and pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) of large restriction fragments. These approaches have identified hospital and residential showers and faucets, hot-tubs and garden soil as sources of transmissible pathogenic NTM. However, gaps exist in the literature, with many clinical isolates remaining unidentified within environments that have been tested, and few studies investigating NTM transmission in developing countries. To understand the environmental reservoirs and transmission routes of pathogenic NTM, different environments, countries and climates must be investigated.

© 2015 Asian African Society for Mycobacteriology. Production and hosting by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Peer review under responsibility of Asian African Society for Mycobacteriology.

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +61 738478890; fax: +61 738478891.

E-mail addresses: samuel.halstrom@uq.net.au (S. Halstrom), patricia.price@curtin.edu.au (P. Price), r.thomson@uq.edu.au (R. Thomson).

Abbreviations: RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism; RAPD, random amplified polymorphic DNA; PFGE, pulsed field gel electrophoresis; RT-PCR, real time polymerase chain reaction; HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography; HP, hypersensitivity pneumonitis; Rep-PCR, repetitive polymerase chain reaction; AFLP, amplified fragment length polymorphism.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmyco.2015.03.002

^{2212-5531/© 2015} Asian African Society for Mycobacteriology. Production and hosting by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

Factors affecting the acquisition of pulmonary NTM.	82
NTM are common in many environments	
Environments of interest are defined.	82
Water	83
Soil	84
House dust	84
Molecular methods allow NTM from patients and their environment to be matched	84
Factors defining clinically important sources of NTM	84
Geographic location	84
Patient exposure	88
Species and strain infectivity	88
An understanding of NTM transmission will facilitate targeted prophylactic measures	88
Conflict of interest	89
Acknowledgements	89
References	89

Factors affecting the acquisition of pulmonary NTM

Pulmonary infections with nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) are an increasing problem in many countries. Symptoms include chronic cough, hemoptysis, weight loss, fever and progressive fatigue - similar to Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MTB) pulmonary infection. Diagnoses are made with chest radiography, detection of acid fast bacilli (AFB) in sputum and cultures from sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids [1]. The increasing prevalence may reflect an aging population, as symptomatic infections are most common in post-menopausal women and older men. NTM infections can also manifest as lymphadenitis, disseminated disease, or skin, tissue or bone disease. Disseminated NTM disease is associated with genetic defects in the Th1 pathway, and lymphadenitis is often seen in patients with advanced HIV disease, whilst skin, tissue and bone infections usually follow trauma at the site of infection. Pulmonary NTM infections in older individuals with no recognized immune defects carry a high morbidity and economic cost, as current treatments have multiple side effects and an intention-to-treat cure rate of <50%. Even in apparent cures, the relapse rate is 50% at 3 years [2]. It is important to determine the source and mode of transmission of pathogenic strains in the environment for the advancement of prophylactic measures, as subtle immune deficiencies are rarely evident prior to the diagnosis of NTM disease.

Pathogenic NTM comprise many species and strains found in water and soil. To elucidate NTM disease risk, clinical and environmental NTM isolates need to be matched. This will identify critical environmental reservoirs and routes of transmission. The following is a review of studies where clinical and environmental strains of mycobacteria were matched and a discussion of the limitations to the methodologies employed.

NTM are common in many environments

NTM have been isolated from drinking water pipelines [3,4], water tanks [5], hot tubs [6], residential faucets [7,8], hospital

faucets and ice machines [9,10], diagnostic laboratories [11], bottled and municipal water, commercial and hospital ice [12], potting soil [13], house dust [14,15], water damaged building materials [16], showerheads [17], shower aerosols [8], hottub aerosols [6], coniferous forest soils [18], brook waters [19], cigarettes [20], livestock [21], coastal mosses [22] and seawater [23]. Reports span multiple countries (including the USA, Australia, the UK, France, the Netherlands, Denmark, Czechoslovakia, Italy, Finland, Germany, Madagascar, Tanzania, Taiwan, Japan and Korea) and various climates. While many isolates were not directly associated with human disease, these reports show that NTM reside in a variety of natural and artificial environments.

Environments of interest are defined

Inhalation of aerosols appears to be the primary transmission route of NTM causing pulmonary disease. This usually occurs in artificial water environments such as hot-tubs and showers, but may involve garden soil and house dust. Mycobacteria may aerosolise more readily than other bacteria as they have highly hydrophobic cell walls. NTM have been isolated from natural water environments in which aerosolisation increase the concentration of NTM in the air [24,25]. However, these studies will not be discussed here as the aerosols were not linked to NTM disease.

Species-level identification of NTM isolates is sufficient to determine the presence or absence in an environment, but strain level identification is required when matching clinical and environmental isolates. For species level NTM identification, cheap lower resolution techniques include phenotypic and biochemical typing, RT-PCR, species specific DNA probe kits, HPLC of mycolic acids and sequencing of select genes (namely 16S, *rpoB* and/or *hsp*65). Serotyping [5] and phage typing [26] have been utilized, but are now less popular as more species of mycobacteria have been recognized.

With low resolution techniques, environments of interest can be selected based on assessments of NTM presence. Demonstrations of transmission causing disease require higher resolution typing techniques such as RFLP, PFGE, or

Table 1 – Summary of molecular techniques described for NTM strain characterization.							
Name	Method of characterization	Papers describing the method					
Partial sequencing	Sequencing of particular genes and gene fragments (i.e., 16S rDNA).Can directly compare SNPs of genomic DNA	[47] [48]					
Repetitive sequence PCR (rep-PCR)	PCR of genomic DNA with primers specific to multiple repetitive sequences. Separate amplicons via gel electrophoresis. Produces unique fingerprint patterns from multiple bands of varying intensity	[49]					
Random amplification of polymorphic DNA (RAPD)	PCR amplification, primers of random sequence utilised. Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis performed on amplicons. Unique fingerprint generated	[50]					
Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP)	Perform PCR with primer of interest. Digest amplicons with restriction enzymes and determination of fragment length via gel electrophoresis. Discriminates DNA strands based on the locations of restriction enzyme sites (as band patterns)	[51]					
Pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE)	Amplify Genomic DNA by culture, digest into large restriction fragments and separate large restriction fragments via pulsed-field gel electrophoreses (i.e., Electrophoresis where voltage periodically changes between three directions). Capable of accurate discrimination of sequences in long strands	[52,53]					
Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP)	Genomic DNA digested with restriction enzymes, adaptors ligated to restriction fragments, restriction fragments undergo PCR amplification, amplified fragments separated and visualized via polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Polymorphisms scored as present or absent from genome	[54]					
Multiplex PCR	Multiple primer sets used in a single PCR reaction, targeting multiple genes. Amplicon sizes determined by gel electrophoresis	[55]					
High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)	Used to separate, identify, and quantify a mixture of components in liquid form. For NTM characterization, it is often used to fingerprint mycolic acid patterns	[10]					
Identification kits	Pre-packaged kits designed to identify certain NTM species. Directions and techniques vary between kits and manufacturers	[49]					

rep-PCR. Although commonly used for species identification, RT-PCR or gene sequencing provide strain level identification if optimized correctly (Table 1). These techniques are discussed further in Section 'Molecular methods allow NTM from patients and their environment to be matched'. When clinical and environmental isolates are matched at the species level only, conclusions should be treated with caution. False-positive matches may occur when different strains of the same NTM species are present in different environmental locations [9].

Excessive exposure to NTM-containing aerosols can also result in hypersensitivity pneumonitis (HP) in people with no known immune deficiencies. This was documented in machine workers following repeated inhalation of aerosolised contaminated metal removal fluids [27]. However, the most frequently reported cause of NTM HP is aerosolisation of contaminated hot-tub and swimming pool water, with multiple reports describing patients who developed NTM HP from these sources after frequent use [28–34]. Whilst patients with NTM HP can present acutely and be significantly unwell, most cases resolve after exposure to the contaminated aerosols is discontinued.

Water

The most credible routes for pulmonary NTM infection involve inhalation of aerosols generated by hot-tubs and shower-heads. Indeed, the global increase in NTM infections may reflect the use of showers rather than bathing [35]. In a study of particular interest, Feazel et al. used quantitative molecular techniques to show that the showerhead environment enriches biofilm-forming organisms, including mycobacteria [36]. NTM organisms are common in treated water. Their innate resistance to chlorine and other disinfectants provides a growth advantage. The disinfectant resistance of NTM was demonstrated in Australia in a study of *Mycobacterium avium* in hot-tubs [37]. Although the bacterial load excluding mycobacteria was kept at a low 1 CFU/ml by chlorination, the same samples yielded NTM numbering between 4.5×10^3 and 4.3×10^4 CFU/ml [37].

Although not affecting the lungs, NTM furunculosis has also been linked to salon foot-baths used by two patients in the USA [38]. The infections are attributed to the use of contaminated foot baths after shaving of the legs had breached the skin barrier.

NTM are also present in hospital environments. Earlier studies linking environmental and clinical NTM isolates found several NTM species were ubiquitous in hospital and residential faucets and showers in the UK, the Netherlands and the Czech Republic [26,39,7]. Diagnosis of NTM disease can be confounded by false-positive isolates due to contamination of diagnostic tests, as demonstrated in the USA [40] and Spain [41]. NTM contaminating hospital materials can cause nosocomial outbreaks and pseudo-outbreaks [42,43]. Prevention of nosocomial infections requires that medical instruments and patient wounds are not exposed to tap water [1].

Soil

Studies of NTM in soil are less numerous than those of water, perhaps because soils are considered a less likely/common source of nosocomial infection and contain more overgrowing contaminants, complicating NTM isolation from culture. However, NTM have been isolated from soil in multiple countries and climates, including Finland [18], Japan [44], the USA [45] and Uganda [46]. Some reports characterize isolates to the species level, but only one utilized molecular techniques to match clinical isolates with NTM isolated from garden soil [13]. Although the study matched 14 clinical isolates with isolates from the patient's own gardens, only three were true matches at the strain level. The authors isolated the organisms by generating aerosols with the soil samples, establishing that the isolates had the potential to be aerosolized to a respirable particle size.

House dust

Many NTM species have been isolated from house dust [14]. Although these studies used only species specific analyses for detection and characterization, they establish house dust as a source of NTM [15]. As dust particles are commonly suspended in the air, inhalation of mycobacteria associated with dust particles is a plausible source of pulmonary infections. An early study from Australia used serotyping (one of the first strain typing techniques described) to match house dust and patient isolates [47]. Approximately 50% of these house dust strains were *Mycobacterium intracellulare* matching the patient isolates. Further studies utilizing more powerful techniques are needed to confirm these findings.

Molecular methods allow NTM from patients and their environment to be matched

Within environments identified by low resolution methods, environmental NTM have been compared with isolates from patients using molecular techniques. These techniques (Table 1) have been used as standalone procedures, and as part of a multistep fingerprinting process. Whilst strain differentiation within some individual species of NTM has been demonstrated using a single technique, this is not the case for all. Strain level differentiation across multiple NTM species requires a combination of different techniques.

Molecular techniques used for characterization of NTM at the strain level include high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), repetitive PCR (rep-PCR), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) PCR, pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) of large restriction fragments, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), partial gene sequencing, and multiplex PCR (i.e., using hsp65, 16S rDNA, ropB, etc.). Table 2 outlines studies in which these molecular techniques have been used to identify sources of clinical NTM isolates.

Many PCR-based analyses (e.g., 16s rDNA sequencing) do not distinguish mycobacterial species taxa at the level as the genes are conserved across the genus [48]. For example, Mycobacterium kansasii/Mycobacterium gastri and Mycobacterium abscessus/Mycobacterium chelonae share identical 16S rDNA sequences. Similar problems also affect NTM differentiation at the strain level and are avoided by the use of multiple analyses in tandem [49]. One study describes a comprehensive analyses of the discriminatory power of 16S rDNA, hsp65, and rpoB gene sequencing, hsp65 RFLP, rep-PCR, RAPD PCR, and PFGE of large restriction fragments for isolates of Mycobacterium mucogenicium and Mycobacterium phocaicum. PFGE analysis displayed the greatest differentiation power showing each environmental isolate as genetically unique [9]. However, PFGE cannot differentiate all NTM strains isolated [50] and should be used in combination with other techniques to achieve greater discrimination. It is also labor and time intensive.

Although not yet utilized in environmental and clinical isolate matching of NTM, it is becoming increasingly feasible to perform whole genome sequencing. Whilst offering definitive genomic differentiation of isolates, whole genome sequencing requires new stratagems in data management [50]. When more sequences become available, targeted sequencing for accurate species identification will reduce costs and increase accessibility. Whole or targeted genome sequencing will likely replace PFGE as the gold standard for bacterial strain typing.

Factors defining clinically important sources of NTM

Geographic location

Relevant studies have been conducted in different countries, with most from the USA and Australia (Table 2) and a few from the developing world. The countries best represented in the literature have a lower prevalence of MTB infection, Table 2 – (a and b) Summary of studies utilizing molecular methods to differentiate and match clinical and environmental isolates of NTM. Relevant papers were identified using search engines (Google Scholar, PubMed, UQ Summon and UWA OneSearch) and citations from other papers. The databases were searched using the following keywords to screen for relevant studies: non-tuberculous mycobacteria, patient, environment, epidemiology, infection, water, dust, soil. All studies cited were available through the University of Queensland or University of Western Australia subscription services or publicly accessible. The absence of published data is represented by "NA".

Country	Clinical samples	Environment investigated	Environmental samples containing NTM: Number of environmental samples taken	Matched clinical and environmental NTM isolates: total environmental samples	Species matched	Species characterization method	Strain characterization method	Source
(a) UK	Patients (n = 33) Isolates (n = 36)	Hospital water faucets (n = 97), tank (n = 5)	57:97 (faucet) 3:5 (tank)	36:102	M. xenopi (n = 36)	Culture Unspecified methods	NA	[39]
USA	AIDS patient stool, sputum and blood (n = 36)	Environmental and municipal water sources	10:NA	5:NA	M. avium (n = 5)	Culture DNA probe kits (SNAP, Gen-Probe)	PFGE-AseI	[60]
USA	Patient blood or bone marrow (n = 40)	Hospital water ($n = 10$) House water ($n = 58$) Reservoir water ($n = 13$)	10:10 (Hospitals) 54:58 (Houses) 12:13 (Reservoirs)	3:10 (Hospitals) 2:58 (Houses) 0:13 (Reservoirs)	M. avium (n = 5)	Culture Serotyping Species specific DNA probes (Syngene) Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis	NA	[61]
Canada	Patient sputum (n = 1)	Hot-tub water (n = 1)	1:1	1:1	M. avium (n = 1)	Culture Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis	RFLP (IS1245)	[30]
USA	Patients (n = 17) Isolates (n = 19)	Water reservoirs $(n = 13)$ Residential water $(n = 55)$ Commercial building water $(n = 31)$ Hospital water $(n = 15)$	12:13 Water reservoirs 45:55 Residential water 31:31 Commercial building water 15:15 Hospital water	3:144	M. avium (n = 3)	Culture Biochemical analyses DNA probe kits (SNAP, AccuProbe) HPLC	PFGE-AseI	[62]
USA	AIDS and non- AIDS patients (n = 103 isolates)	Various vegetables (n = 121)	25:121	1:121	M. avium (n = 1)	Culture DNA probe kits (Accuprobe, SNAP) RFLP	RT-PCR (IS 1245 and IS1311) (M. avium only)	[63]
USA	Patient biopsy tissue (n = 2)	Nail salon whirlpool bath swabs (n = 7)	3:7	2:7	M. mageritense (n = 2)	Culture Biochemical analyses PCR-RFLP (hsp65) HPLC (mycolic acid esters)	rep-PCR PFGE-XbaI	[38]
USA	Patient sputum (n = 131) (n = 161 isolates)	Hospital hot water system isolates (n = 13)	13:13	85:13	M. avium (n = 85)	Culture PCR-RFLP (hsp65) Gen-probe DNA Probes	PFGE-AsnI, XbaI	[64]

'able 2 – (d	continued)							
Country	Clinical samples	Environment investigated	Environmental samples containing NTM: Number of environmental samples taken	Matched clinical and environmental NTM isolates: total environmental samples	Species matched	Species characterization method	Strain characterization method	Source
(a)								
Australia	Patient sputum (n = 4)	Spa water (n = 2)	2:2	3:2	M. avium (n = 3)	Culture Phenotypic characteristics	PFGE-AseI rep-PCR (between IS1245 and IS1311)	[37]
Korea	Patient blood culture (n = 12 isolates)	Hospital tap water n = 100	50:100	2:100	M. mucogenicium (n = 2)	Culture PCR-RFLP (ropB) – MspI, HaeIII	RAPD (10-mer primer)	[65]
USA	Patient sputum (n = 26)	Commercial potting soil aerosols ($n = 2$) Patient garden soil aerosols ($n = 79$)	21:21	3:79	M. intracellulare (n = 2) M. avium (n = 1)	Culture RFLP (<i>hsp</i> 65) – HaeIII, BstEII Partial sequencing (16s and 23s rDNA)	PFGE-Xbal	[13]
Japan	Patient sputum (n = 30)	Patient residential bathrooms (showerhead water ($n = 46$), kitchen tap water ($n = 48$), bathtub tap ($n = 48$), showerhead scale ($n = 37$), drain slime ($n = 49$) and air conditioners ($n = 45$))	10:371 (all in bathrooms)	2:49	M. avium (n = 2)	Culture Phenotypic characteristics Partial sequencing (16s- 23s RNA ITS region)	Serotyping RFLP (IS 1245 and IS 1311) PFGE-Xbal, DraI	[66]
(b)								
USA	Patient sputum (n = 1)	Showerhead sediment $(n = 6)$, hot $(n = 6)$ and cold $(n = 6)$ bathroom tap water	6:6 (Hot water) 6:6 (Cold water) 6:6 (Sediment)	1:18	M. avium (n = 1)	Culture Partial sequencing (16s rDNA)	RFLP (hsp65 and IS 1245/IS 1311) - BstEII, HaeIll	[17]
USA	Patient blood (n = 5)	Texas hospital sinks, showers $(n = 13)$ Municipal water tank swabs $(n = 2)$ Municipal water plant tanks $(n = 2)$ Hospital swabs $(n = 10)$ Ice machine ice $(n = 1)$	12:27	1:27	M. phocaicum (n = 1)	Culture Partial sequencing (hsp65, 16S rRNA, and rpoB)	rep-PCR (Box A1R Primer) RAPD – PCR (RAPD1 primer) PFGE – AseI	[9]
USA	Patient isolates (n = 74)	Residential water supplying patients homes $(n = 23)$	23:23	1:23	M. avium (n = 1)	Culture Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis	PFGE-Xbal	[67]

Table 2 – (continued)							
Spain	Patients (n = 39) Patient urine(n = 23 isolates) Patient sputum (n = 19 isolates)	Hospital tap water Urine collection bottles	6:NA (Hospital tap water) 11:NA (Urine bottles)	21:NA (Patient urine) 5:NA (Patient sputum)	M. avium (n = 26)	Culture Phenotypic characteristics DNA Probe kit (AccuProbe MAC culture identification kit)	rep-PCR (IS1245 and IS901) Partial sequencing (hsp65, 16S rDNA) RFLP (IS 1311) – Hinfl, MseI PFGE - Xbal	[41]
USA	Patients (n = 42)	Patient residential water systems $(n = 37)$ Total samples taken (n = 394)	22:37 (houses) 109:394 (individual samples)	7:37	M. avium (n = 7)	Culture Partial sequencing (16s rDNA)	rep-PCR	[68]
USA	Patients (n = 24) Patient samples (n = 60)	Hospital water and ice machines (n = 139) Household water (n = 5 households)	112:139 (Hospital water and ice) 4:5 (Residential water)	5:139 (Hospital water and ice) 3:5 (Residential water)	M. porcinum (n = 8)	Culture HPLC of mycolic acids RFLP (hsp65)	PFGE – Xbal, Asel Partial sequencing (hsp65, ropB, recA and 16s rDNA)	
Australia	Patients (n = 20)	Patient taps, swimming pools and rainwater tanks (n = 20)	19:20	7:20 (Species level) 1:20 (Strain level)	M. abscessus (n = 3), M. avium (n = 1), M. gordonae $(n = 1)$, M. lentiflavum (n = 1), and M. kansasii (strain level match) $(n = 1)$	Culture RT-PCR and High Resolution Melt Curve Partial sequencing (16s rDNA) Multiplex PCR Hain Life Sciences GenoType Mycobacterium AS kit	rep-PCR	[8]
Australia	Patients (n = 68) Isolates (n = 72)	NTM patient residential water swabs and aerosols (n = 16 isolates) Water from main, reservoir and distribution points $(n = 220)$	Patient residential water swabs and aerosols)	6:65 (environmental isolates)	M. kansasii (n = 6)	Culture Phenotypic characteristics Partial sequencing (hsp65, 16s rDNA) Multiplex PCR DNA probe kit (GenoType [®] Mycobacterium AS (additional species) kit)	RFLP (16s-23s ITS rDNA) rep-PCR	[50]
Australia	Patient samples (n = 74)	Municipal water Tap water Tank water Swimming pool water	15:NA	6:15 (water isolates)	M. abscessus (n = 6)	Culture Phenotypic characteristics Partial sequencing (16s rDNA, hsp65, rpoB) Multiplex PCR DNA probe kit (GenoType [®] Mycobacterium AS (additional species) kit)	rep-PCR	[3]

better diagnosis of NTM diseases and more funding available for research. The imbalance makes it difficult to address the role of climate and geographical location in the acquisition of NTM from water and soil. However, NTM does appear to be widespread in most regions, as is NTM disease [1,51]. It remains unclear why the species causing disease vary between countries, but there is potential for climate to influence the exposure of susceptible people through the prevalence of NTM in the environment [52].

Patient exposure

Many common activities expose individuals to pathogenic NTM. The most studied are hot-tub use [30,37,6], showering [8,9,17], faucet use [39,53,54] and gardening [13]. These sources have been investigated by studies matching NTM strains between the patient and the environment. NTM transmission has also been linked with exposure from commercial farming [55], aerosolised metalworking fluids [27] and tending of aquariums [56], but these routes have yet to be confirmed by matching clinical and environmental strains.

Sources of residential exposure to NTM have been investigated via questionnaire-based surveys [52,57,58]. Exposure to soil was identified as a risk factor in all three studies, and one showed more mixed and polyclonal NTM infections in patients regularly exposed to soil, linking environmental exposure with disease [57]. NTM disease did not correlate with exposure to specific foods or to pets [52,58].

Although useful data are provided, the use of surveys is flawed in that: (1) one exposure event may be enough for NTM colonization, making accounts of activity frequency less relevant; (2) isolates were not matched to ascertain that the source implicated was responsible for NTM disease; and (3) for a study of the general population, a cohort of 800 is insufficient in an area with an NTM infection rate of 1.2/100,000 [52]. Some studies have used sensitin skin testing as an indicator of NTM infection [52]. However, sensitin tests reflect both past and current infections, with a potential for false positives, and are poor markers of clinical disease.

The low ratio of successful matches between environmental and clinical isolates is striking. While some studies matched most clinical isolates with their reservoir [17,37], this is likely due to the low numbers of participating patients. Others achieved accurate matches with fewer than 20% of patient isolates, so any conclusions regarding relative environmental risk factors are broad extrapolations [9,13,53,54]. The reservoirs for most clinically infective NTM remain unknown, but many bacteria in the patient's immediate environment are never identified and characterized. The missing pathogens may have originated from a known environment of interest (e.g., a showerhead) that was not sampled for the study, or may have been transmitted via a novel route. The significant lag time between acquisition of infection and diagnosis of disease (1-10 years) makes it difficult to pinpoint the actual source.

Alternatively, human transmission may be responsible for more infections than is generally suspected. Although this has rarely been observed, recent studies show links between isolates from multiple patients [59–61]. These results do not prove human-to-human transmission, as patients may have acquired the pathogen from the same environmental reservoir. However, this route of NTM infection should not be dismissed without further study.

Species and strain infectivity

Species of NTM differ in habitat and in their potential for human infection. A summary compiled by the American Thoracic Society shows the relative risk of infection by different NTM species in the USA [1]. M. kansasii remains one of the most infective species whilst others (i.e., Mycobacterium frederiksbergense, Mycobacterium flavescens, Mycobacterium moriokaense) appear to be non-pathogenic to humans [1]..

Moreover, pathogenicity may vary between strains of the same species. In a study of clinical isolates of *M. kansasii* (n = 191), isolates from different subtypes differed in pathogenicity based on the percentage of patients infected [62]. Subtype 1 accounted for a majority of isolates and was considered pathogenic in 81% of cases, while subtype 3 was only pathogenic in 6% of cases and was considered a non-pathogen [63].

Antibiotics play a central role in the treatment of NTM disease, with individual NTM species and patients requiring different antibiotic cocktails. Difficulties prescribing the correct treatment arise from the limited ability of *in vitro* susceptibility tests to predict antimicrobial responses for all NTM species. For example, *M. kansasii* is susceptible to multiple antibiotics and *M. avium* is susceptible to the macrolide antimicrobials *in vivo*, but *M. abscessus subs abscessus* has inducible resistance to macrolides [1]. In rare cases, side effects of effective antibiotic treatment outweigh the consequences of the disease.

Strain typing of NTM is not routine clinical care, but could reveal patterns of pathogenicity and antibiotic resistance present in the population. For example, M. *abscessus* strains with a functional erythromycin ribosome methyltransferase (*erm*) gene are resistant to macrolide antibiotics. Strains lacking a functional *erm* gene are susceptible to macrolides *in vivo* and *in vitro* [64].

An understanding of NTM transmission will facilitate targeted prophylactic measures

NTM are ubiquitous in the environment and vary in infectivity, pathogenicity and susceptibility to antibiotics. Although most studies using high resolution molecular techniques are from the USA and Australia, NTM have been isolated from similar sources in other countries and climates. The risk of a particular environmental source transmitting pathogenic NTM is determined by three variables: (1) the capacity for pathogenic NTM growth in the environment; (2) the frequency of human exposure from the source in question; and (3) the method of patient exposure to pathogenic NTM from the source. Environments of interest are those with high NTM burdens in a form that is easily aerosolised, namely showers, hot-tubs, garden soil and house dust.

From studies in which environmental NTM have been matched by strain to pathogenic isolates, key sources appear to be hot-tubs, faucets and showerheads, with similar frequencies of isolation from hospitals and private residences. However, most private residences sampled belonged to patients already infected with NTM. When private residences of uninfected individuals were sampled, NTM were recovered at a much lower frequency, suggesting the community at large has a low risk of infection from household water [53].

Whilst many studies confirm that NTM is transmitted from water, this may simply reflect the large number of water-based studies. *M. avium* has a longstanding link to water environments, as does *M. abscessus* [8]. Although *M. kansasii* can be found in a tap water, few strains from tap water matched disease isolates. *M. intracellulare* infections were also associated with water, but these waterborne *M. intracellulare* isolates have since been reidentified as a novel species, *Mycobacterium chimaera* [65]. Although *M. intracellulare* infection is still commonly reported [66], since this re-classification there remains no evidence linking water to *M. intracellulare* infection. Transmission may involve soil exposure, which correlates with NTM pulmonary disease in multiple studies [44,52,57,58] although it has only been confirmed as a transmission route via strain-matching in one [13].

Presently, prophylaxis of pulmonary NTM disease involves avoidance of exposure to possible NTM containing aerosols. Steps that can be made to reduce levels of NTM in water include: maintaining hot water system temperatures at above 60 °C, and the correct pH and chlorination of pools and spas. Nosocomial infections can be prevented by cleaning medical instruments using only sterile water and disinfectant before use, and use of personal protective equipment can reduce aerosol inhalation (e.g., when gardening). These precautions can be recommended to individuals perceived to be at a high risk of infection. A more extensive understanding of NTM transmission will allow more targeted prophylactic measures.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

Acknowledgements

Samuel Halstrom is supported by a Gallipoli Medical Research Foundation Research Scholarship.

REFERENCES

- D.E. Griffith, T. Aksamit, B.A. Brown-Elliott, A. Catanzaro, C. Daley, F. Gordin, et al, An official ATS/IDSA statement: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of nontuberculous mycobacterial diseases, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 175 (4) (2007) 367–416.
- [2] R.M. Thomson, W.W. Yew, When and how to treat pulmonary non-tuberculous mycobacterial diseases, Respirology 14 (1) (2009) 12–26.
- [3] R. Thomson, C. Tolson, H. Sidjabat, F. Huygens, M. Hargreaves, Mycobacterium abscessus isolated from municipal water – a potential source of human infection, BMC Infect. Dis. 13 (1) (2013) 241.
- [4] E. Torvinen, S. Suomalainen, M.J. Lehtola, I.T. Miettinen, O. Zacheus, L. Paulin, et al, Mycobacteria in water and loose

deposits of drinking water distribution systems in Finland, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70 (4) (2004) 1973–1981.

- [5] R. Tuffley, J. Holbeche, Isolation of the Mycobacterium avium M. intracellulare – M. scrofulaceum complex from tank water in Queensland, Australia, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 39 (1) (1980) 48–53.
- [6] E.J. Mangione, G. Huitt, D. Lenaway, J. Beebe, A. Bailey, M. Figoski, et al, Nontuberculous mycobacterial disease following hot tub exposure, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 7 (6) (2001) 1039.
- [7] M. Slosarek, M. Kubin, M. Jaresova, Water-borne household infections due to Mycobacterium xenopi, Cent. Eur. J. Public Health 1 (2) (1993) 78–80.
- [8] R. Thomson, C. Tolson, R. Carter, C. Coulter, F. Huygens, M. Hargreaves, Isolation of nontuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) from household water and shower aerosols in patients with pulmonary disease caused by NTM, J. Clin. Microbiol. 51 (9) (2013) 3006–3011.
- [9] R.C. Cooksey, M.A. Jhung, M.A. Yakrus, W.R. Butler, T. Adékambi, G.P. Morlock, et al, Multiphasic approach reveals genetic diversity of environmental and patient isolates of Mycobacterium mucogenicum and Mycobacterium phocaicum associated with an outbreak of bacteremias at a Texas hospital, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (8) (2008) 2480– 2487.
- [10] L. Galassi, R. Donato, E. Tortoli, D. Burrini, D. Santianni, R. Dei, Nontuberculous mycobacteria in hospital water systems: application of HPLC for identification of environmental mycobacteria, J. Water Health 1 (2003) 133– 139.
- [11] C. Chang, L. Wang, C. Liao, S. Huang, Identification of nontuberculous mycobacteria existing in tap water by PCRrestriction fragment length polymorphism, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68 (6) (2002) 3159–3161.
- [12] T.C. Covert, M.R. Rodgers, A.L. Reyes, G.N. Stelma, Occurrence of nontuberculous mycobacteria in environmental samples, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65 (6) (1999) 2492–2496.
- [13] M.A. De Groote, N.R. Pace, K. Fulton, J.O. Falkinham, Relationships between Mycobacterium isolates from patients with pulmonary mycobacterial infection and potting soils, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (12) (2006) 7602–7606.
- [14] D.J. Dawson, Potential pathogens among strains of mycobacteria isolated from house-dusts, Med. J. Aust. 1 (13) (1971) 679–681.
- [15] E. Torvinen, P. Torkko, A.N. Rintala, Real-time PCR detection of environmental mycobacteria in house dust, J. Microbiol. Methods 82 (1) (2010) 78–84.
- [16] E. Torvinen, T. Meklin, P. Torkko, S. Suomalainen, M. Reiman, M.-L. Katila, et al, Mycobacteria and fungi in moisturedamaged building materials, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (10) (2006) 6822–6824.
- [17] J. Falkinham III, M. Iseman, P. Haas, D. Soolingen, Mycobacterium avium in a shower linked to pulmonary disease, J. Water Health 6 (2) (2008) 209–213.
- [18] E.K. Iivanainen, P.J. Martikainen, M.L. Räisänen, M.L. Katila, Mycobacteria in boreal coniferous forest soils, FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 23 (4) (1997) 325–332.
- [19] E. Iivanainen, P. Martikainen, P. Väänänen, M.L. Katila, Environmental factors affecting the occurrence of mycobacteria in brook waters, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 59 (2) (1993) 398–404.
- [20] T. Eaton, J. Falkinham III, C.F. von Reyn, Recovery of Mycobacterium avium from cigarettes, J. Clin. Microbiol. 33 (10) (1995) 2757.
- [21] C.Q.F. Leite, I.S. Anno, S.R. Leite, E. Roxo, G.P. Morlock, R.C. Cooksey, Isolation and identification of mycobacteria from livestock specimens and milk obtained in Brazil, Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz 98 (3) (2003) 319–323.

- [22] K.H. Schröder, J. Kazda, K. Müller, H. Müller, Isolation of Mycobacterium simiae from the environment, Zentralbl. Bakteriol. 277 (4) (1992) 561–564.
- [23] H. Gruft, A. Loder, M. Osterhout, B. Parker, J. Falkinham III, Postulated sources of Mycobacterium intracellulare and Mycobacterium scrofulaceum infection: isolation of mycobacteria from estuaries and ocean waters, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 120 (6) (1979) 1385–1388.
- [24] B. Parker, M. Ford, H. Gruft, J. Falkinham III, Epidemiology of infection by nontuberculous mycobacteria. IV. Preferential aerosolization of Mycobacterium intracellulare from natural waters, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 128 (4) (1983) 652–656.
- [25] S. Wendt, K. George, B. Parker, H. Gruft, J. Falkinham III, Epidemiology of infection by nontuberculous Mycobacteria.
 III. Isolation of potentially pathogenic mycobacteria from aerosols, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 122 (2) (1980) 259–263.
- [26] H. Engel, L. Berwald, A. Havelaar, The occurrence of Mycobacterium kansasii in tapwater, Tubercle 61 (1) (1980) 21– 26.
- [27] B.G. Shelton, W.D. Flanders, G.K. Morris, Mycobacterium sp. as a possible cause of hypersensitivity pneumonitis in machine workers, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5 (2) (1999) 270.
- [28] J. Embil, P. Warren, M. Yakrus, R. Stark, S. Corne, et al, Pulmonary illness associated with exposure to Mycobacterium avium complex in hot tub water hypersensitivity pneumonitis or infection?, Chest J 111 (3) (1997) 813–816.
- [29] C.S. Glazer, J.W. Martyny, B. Lee, T.L. Sanchez, T.M. Sells, L.S. Newman, et al, Nontuberculous mycobacteria in aerosol droplets and bulk water samples from therapy pools and hot tubs, J. Occup. Environ. Hyg. 4 (11) (2007) 831–840.
- [30] L.M. Kahana, J.M. Kay, M.A. Yakrus, S. Waserman, Mycobacterium avium complex infection in an immunocompetent young adult related to hot tub exposure, Chest J. 111 (1) (1997) 242–245.
- [31] A. Khoor, K.O. Leslie, H.D. Tazelaar, R.A. Helmers, T.V. Colby, Diffuse pulmonary disease caused by nontuberculous mycobacteria in immunocompetent people (hot tub lung), Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 115 (5) (2001) 755–762.
- [32] N. Marchetti, K. Criner, G.J. Criner, Characterization of functional, radiologic and lung function recovery posttreatment of hot tub lung. A case report and review of the literature, Lung 182 (5) (2004) 271–277.
- [33] O.B. Rickman, J.H. Ryu, M.E. Fidler, S. Kalra, Hypersensitivity pneumonitis associated with Mycobacterium avium complex and hot tub use, Mayo Clinic Proceedings, vol. 11, Elsevier, 2002, pp. 1233–1237.
- [34] R.M. Schwartzstein, E.J. Mark, Case 27-2000, N. Engl. J. Med. 343 (9) (2000) 642–649, http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM200008313430908.
- [35] D.P. O'Brien, B.J. Currie, V.L. Krause, Nontuberculous mycobacterial disease in northern Australia: a case series and review of the literature, Clin. Infect. Dis. 31 (4) (2000) 958– 967.
- [36] L.M. Feazel, L.K. Baumgartner, K.L. Peterson, D.N. Frank, J.K. Harris, N.R. Pace, Opportunistic pathogens enriched in showerhead biofilms, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106 (38) (2009) 16393–16399.
- [37] R. Lumb, R. Stapledon, A. Scroop, P. Bond, D. Cunliffe, A. Goodwin, et al, Investigation of spa pools associated with lung disorders caused by *Mycobacterium avium* complex in immunocompetent adults, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70 (8) (2004) 4906–4910.
- [38] A.K. Gira, A.H. Reisenauer, L. Hammock, U. Nadiminti, J.T. Macy, A. Reeves, et al, Furunculosis due to Mycobacterium mageritense associated with footbaths at a nail salon, J. Clin. Microbiol. 42 (4) (2004) 1813–1817.
- [39] D. McSwiggan, C. Collins, The isolation of M. kansasii and M. xenopi from water systems, Tubercle 55 (4) (1974) 291–297.

- [40] S. Goslee, E. Wolinsky, Water as a source of potentially pathogenic mycobacteria, Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 113 (3) (1976) 287–292.
- [41] J. Alvarez, I.G. Garcia, A. Aranaz, J. Bezos, B. Romero, L. de Juan, et al, Genetic diversity of Mycobacterium avium isolates recovered from clinical samples and from the environment: molecular characterization for diagnostic purposes, J. Clin. Microbiol. 46 (4) (2008) 1246–1251, http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/ jcm.01621-07.
- [42] A.P. Panwalker, E. Fuhse, Nosocomial Mycobacterium gordonae pseudoinfection from contaminated ice machines, Infect. Control (1986) 67–70.
- [43] R.J. Wallace Jr., B.A. Brown, D.E. Griffith, Nosocomial outbreaks/pseudo outbreaks caused by nontuberculous mycobacteria, Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 52 (1) (1998) 453–490.
- [44] S. Ichiyama, K. Shimokata, M. Tsukamura, The isolation of Mycobacterium avium complex from soil, water, and dusts, Microbiol. Immunol. 32 (7) (1988) 733–739.
- [45] R.J. Jones, D.E. Jenkins, Mycobacteria isolated from soil, Can. J. Microbiol. 11 (2) (1965) 127–133.
- [46] C. Kankya, A. Muwonge, B. Djønne, M. Munyeme, J. Opuda-Asibo, E. Skjerve, et al, Isolation of non-tuberculous mycobacteria from pastoral ecosystems of Uganda: public health significance, BMC Public Health 11 (1) (2011) 320.
- [47] M. Reznikov, D. Dawson, Serological investigation of strains of Mycobacterium intracellulare ("battey" bacillus) isolated from house-dusts, Med. J. Aust. 1 (13) (1971) 682–683.
- [48] J. Cloud, H. Neal, R. Rosenberry, C. Turenne, M. Jama, et al, Identification of Mycobacterium spp. by using a commercial 16S ribosomal DNA sequencing kit and additional sequencing libraries, J. Clin. Microbiol. 40 (2) (2002) 400–406.
- [49] M. Picardeau, G. Prod'Hom, L. Raskine, M. LePennec, V. Vincent, Genotypic characterization of five subspecies of Mycobacterium kansasii, J. Clin. Microbiol. 35 (1) (1997) 25–32.
- [50] D. MacCannell, Bacterial strain typing, Clin. Lab. Med. 33 (3) (2013) 629–650.
- [51] W. Hoefsloot, J. Van Ingen, C. Andrejak, K. Ängeby, R. Bauriaud, P. Bemer, et al, The geographic diversity of nontuberculous mycobacteria isolated from pulmonary samples: an NTM-NET collaborative study, Eur. Respir. J. 42 (6) (2013) 1604–1613.
- [52] C. Reed, C.F. Von Reyn, S. Chamblee, T.V. Ellerbrock, J.W. Johnson, B.J. Marsh, et al, Environmental risk factors for infection with Mycobacterium avium complex, Am. J. Epidemiol. 164 (1) (2006) 32–40.
- [53] Y. Nishiuchi, R. Maekura, S. Kitada, A. Tamaru, T. Taguri, Y. Kira, et al, The recovery of Mycobacterium avium-intracellulare complex (MAC) from the residential bathrooms of patients with pulmonary MAC, Clin. Infect. Dis. 45 (3) (2007) 347–351.
- [54] J. Shin, E. Lee, H. Lee, S. Ryu, H. Kim, C. Chang, et al, Prevalence of non-tuberculous mycobacteria in a hospital environment, J. Hosp. Infect. 65 (2) (2007) 143–148.
- [55] K. Fujita, Y. Ito, T. Hirai, K. Maekawa, S. Imai, S. Tatsumi, et al, Genetic relatedness of Mycobacterium aviumintracellulare complex isolates from patients with pulmonary MAC disease and their residential soils, Clin. Microbiol. Infect. 19 (6) (2013) 537–541.
- [56] D.N. Collier, Cutaneous infections from coastal and marine bacteria, Dermatol. Ther. 15 (1) (2002) 1–9.
- [57] K. Fujita, Y. Ito, T. Hirai, T. Kubo, K. Maekawa, K. Togashi, et al, Association between polyclonal and mixed mycobacterial Mycobacterium avium complex infection and environmental exposure, Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc. 11 (1) (2014) 45–53.
- [58] K. Maekawa, Y. Ito, T. Hirai, T. Kubo, S. Imai, S. Tatsumi, et al, Environmental risk factors for pulmonary Mycobacterium avium-intracellulare complex disease, Chest J. 140 (3) (2011) 723–729.

- [59] M.L. Aitken, A. Limaye, P. Pottinger, E. Whimbey, C.H. Goss, M.R. Tonelli, et al, Respiratory outbreak of Mycobacterium abscessus subspecies massiliense in a lung transplant and cystic fibrosis center, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 185 (2) (2012) 231–232.
- [60] J.M. Bryant, D.M. Grogono, D. Greaves, J. Foweraker, I. Roddick, T. Inns, et al, Whole-genome sequencing to identify transmission of Mycobacterium abscessus between patients with cystic fibrosis: a retrospective cohort study, Lancet 381 (9877) (2013) 1551–1560.
- [61] W.M. Ricketts, T.C. O'Shaughnessy, J. van Ingen, Human-tohuman transmission of Mycobacterium kansasii or victims of a shared source?, Eur Respir. J. (2014) erj00666–erj02014.
- [62] C. Taillard, G. Greub, R. Weber, G.E. Pfyffer, T. Bodmer, S. Zimmerli, et al, Clinical implications of Mycobacterium kansasii species heterogeneity: Swiss National Survey, J. Clin. Microbiol. 41 (3) (2003) 1240–1244.
- [63] G. Goy, V. Thomas, K. Rimann, K. Jaton, G. Prod'hom, G. Greub, The Neff strain of Acanthamoeba castellanii, a tool for testing the virulence of Mycobacterium kansasii, Res. Microbiol. 158 (4) (2007) 393–397.
- [64] K.A. Nash, B.A. Brown-Elliott, R.J. Wallace, A novel gene, erm (41), confers inducible macrolide resistance to clinical isolates of Mycobacterium abscessus but is absent from

Mycobacterium chelonae, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53 (4) (2009) 1367–1376.

- [65] E. Tortoli, L. Rindi, M.J. Garcia, P. Chiaradonna, R. Dei, C. Garzelli, et al, Proposal to elevate the genetic variant MAC-A, included in the Mycobacterium avium complex, to species rank as Mycobacterium chimaera sp. nov, Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 54 (4) (2004) 1277–1285.
- [66] R. Carter, M. Holt, S. Pandey, R. Thomson, C. Coulter, P. Chapman, Epidemiology of Mycobacterium Intracellulare complex in South East Queensland Australia, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 189 (2014) A6537.
- [67] E. Hilborn, M. Yakrus, T. Covert, S. Harris, S. Donnelly, M. Schmitt, S. Toney, S. Bailey, G. Stelma Jnr, Molecular comparison of Mycobacterium avium isolates from clinical and environmental sources, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 4966–4968.
- [68] J.I. Falkinham, Nontuberculous mycobacteria from household plumbing of patients with nontuberculous mycobacteria disease, Emerg. Infect. Dis. 17 (2011) 419–424.
- [69] B. Brown-Elliott, R. Wallace, C. Tichindelean, J. Sarria, S. McNulty, R. Vasireddy, L. Bridge, C. Mayhall, C. Turenne, M. Loeffelholz, Five-year outbreak of community- and hospitalacquired mycobacterium porcinum infections related to public water supplies, J. Clin. Microbiol. 49 (2011) 4231–4238.